At Charleston 


HOLLY J. MCINTIRE, 

Administratrix of the Estate of Markel J. Koon, 
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v. 

KELLY DAWN HOPE, PAMELA KOON, 

and STEVEN SHUMAN, JR., 


BRENDA YEAGER and RHONDA BOYLEN, 

and AARON KOON, 


Beneficiaries, Respondents. 

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Harrison County, West Virginia 

Civil Action No. 14-C-501-1 


BRIEF OF PETITIONER/APPELLANT

Assignments of Error: 

I. 	 The Trial Court Erred in Finding as a Matter of Law, without a hearing, that 
Petitioner Was Not Entitled to Compensation as an "otherwise .•. equitably entitled 
[person] to share in such distribution" Under the Wrongful Death Statute § 55-7-6 
(1992). 

II. 	 The Trial Court Erred in Finding as a Matter of Law that the Petitioner was not 
Entitled to the Statutory Fee Pursuant to West Virginia Code § 44-4-12a for Her 
Actions in Administering the Decedent's Estate and in prosecuting the Wrongful Death 
Civil Action as the Plaintiff. 

III. 	 The Trial Court Erred in Finding as a Matter of Law that Petitioner was not Entitled 
to Reasonable Compensation Under the West Virginia Uniform Trust Code as the 
Trustee of a Statutory Trust Created by the Wrongful Death Statute. 



'. 

Statement of the Case: 

This appeal results from the Trial Court's Orders entered January 25, 2017 (JA 7-11) and 

April 7, 2017 (JA 12-14), which denied Petitioner Holly J. McIntire's request for compensation 

under the Wrongful Death Statute as a person "otherwise ... equitably entitled to share" andlor as 

the Personal Representati ve of the Estate of Markel J. Koon (hereinafter "Estate") who successfully 

prosecuted a Wrongful Death action on behalf of all the other statutory beneficiaries. 

Petitioner sought a modest feel on three separate grounds from the settlement fund which 

she brought into existence as the Personal Representative and Plaintiff in the wrongful death case: 

Those grounds were: (1) that she was a person "otherwise ... equitably entitled to share,,2 in the 

recovery under the Wrongful Death Statute, (2) that she should be compensated under West Virginia 

Code § 44-4-12a, pertaining to the personal representati ve' s compensation3 and (3) that the Wrongful 

Death Statute creates a statutory trust where the Personal Representative is a trustee for the 

beneficiaries and entitled to compensation under the West Virginia Uniform Trust Code.4 (JA 4). 

The Trial Court denied Petitioner's request for compensation rejecting Petitioner's claims 

without conducting a hearing to determine the facts in applying equity under the "otherwise ... 

equitably entitled to share" provision of the Wrongful Death Statute. Petitioner's assertions were 

essentially undisputed regarding whether Petitioner met the criteria for inclusion as one "otherwise 

... equitably entitled to share," which is a fact based, equitable determination. (JA 7-9). Petitioner 

1 The apportionment of the settlement is not at issue in this Appeal as it was agreed upon by all the potential 
beneficiaries and the Petitioner pending the decision on whether Petitioner was entitled to compensation and the 
amount; the percentages of the settlement to be distributed will be applied to any compensation granted to Petitioner. 

2 W.Va. Code § 55-7-6(b) (1992). (hereinafter referred to as "Wrongful Death Statute") 


3 W.Va. Code § 44-4-12a (2007). (hereinafter referred to as "Estate Statute") 


4 W.Va. Code § 44D-7-708(a) (2011). 
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contends that a hearing was necessary for the Trial Court to consider the evidence and make a factual 

determination of whether Petitioner's status met such criteria of an "otherwise ... equitably entitled 

to share" claimant. 

The Trial Court also held as a matter of law that a personal representati ve, such as Peti tioner 

is a nominal party and could not recover under the Estate Statute and that the Wrongful Death Statute 

did not create a statutory trust that made her the trustee for the benefit of the statutory beneficiaries. 

Petitioner is a Registered Nurse and was the mother of the Decedent's only minor child at 

the time of his death. Petitioner's and the Decedent's daughter Morgan Koon, was fourteen (14) 

years old when her Father was killed when the dozer he was operating at the Consolidation Coal site 

slid into a coal slurry pond when the subsurface collapsed due to preventable events. The Decedent 

became trapped in the dozer's cab and perished when it eventually filled with water. 

Due to the circumstances of the death, a civil action was contemplated by the survivors and 

Petitioner was asked to undertake the position of Personal Representative due to the Decedent's 

unusual family circumstances and the belief that Ms. McIntire was "the only individual capable of 

representing the Estate in the civil action while maintaining the necessary harmony in Mark Koon's 

dysfunctional family unit necessary to achieve the best possible results in the civil action." (JA 108). 

Petitioner was appointed Personal Representative of the Estate on December 17,2012 by the Clerk 

of the County Commission of Marion County. (JA 16). She then proceeded to manage the civil 

action until completion on July 5, 2016. 

Petitioner and Mark Koon maintained a close relationship where they jointly raised their 

daughter for over fourteen (14) years and the two saw each other frequently, if not daily. (JA 92). 

The quality of Petitioner's relationship with the Decedent, especially as it pertained to maintaining 
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a family atmosphere for their child Morgan, is important to the application of the "otherwise ... 

equitably entitled to share" standard in the Wrongful Death statute. Essentially, the Decedent was 

Petitioner's partner in co-parenting their only minor child and had done so for more than fourteen 

(14) years. Surely this is a significant relationship relied upon by both the Petitioner and the 

Decedent.5 There is no more closer relationship than jointly raising a child. If the Trial Court had 

taken evidence at an evidentiary hearing, it would have become clear the their relationship was very 

significant and very beneficial for their daughter. It would also have become clear that such 

relationship included significant reliance by the Decedent upon Petitioner for more than just co

parenting their daughter. 

Surely testimony and witness evidence is necessary for the Trial Court to effectively consider 

whether Petitioner is equitably entitled to share in the recovery that she helped bring into existence, 

and thus, an evidentiary hearing was necessary as a determination could not be made as a matter of 

law. 

Mr. Koon's family included three children with three different mothers, a stepson from his 

wife, a spouse with whom he had been married for two decades but with whom he had not 

cohabitated within more than a decade, and two older sisters. (JA 108). Further, several 

beneficiaries had significant personal problems, including chemical dependencies and lack ofcontact 

with Mark Koon for many years, all of which were deemed to raise unnecessary problems in 

managing the litigation if one of them were appointed the Personal Representative. (JA 92). It was 

the view of Trial Counsel hired to evaluate the potential claims, that Petitioner was the only person 

capable of maintaining the family's unity while prosecuting the action, and also represent the 

5 The Petitioner and the Mark Koon were never married. 
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interests of all potential beneficiaries which was deemed critical in obtaining the substantial 

recovery in this case. (JA 112). 

Trial Counsel filed an Affidavit in this matter that detailed Petitioner's considerable efforts 

in managing the underlying Wrongful Death action and the personal and professional time she lost 

to successfully prosecute the action. (JA 107-112). Trial Counsel noted that, from the beginning of 

the case, the Defendants attempted to use Mr. Koon's family structure strategically in an attempt to 

reduce any potential settlement and family unity was critical to avoid diminishing the potential value 

of the case as that was a significant part of the recoverable damages. (JA 108). Beyond maintaining 

family unity, Petitioner performed numerous other necessary functions such as personally locating 

documents critical to the case for Trial Counsel, spending hours consulting with Trial Counsel to 

calculate intangible damages such as loss of household services, locating crucial witnesses, 

responding to discovery requests, providing comments on the Defendants' discovery responses, 

reviewing and commenting on numerous pleadings, searching for and reviewing hundreds of 

photographs and hours of video for the preparation of a settlement video, attending witness 

statements and discussing investigation results with Trial Counsel, preparing for and attending 

twenty (20) total hours of mediation, and other matters which caused her to expend substantial time 

and effort over the four years the case was pending. (JA 109-111). Trial Counsel noted that 

Petitioner was in contact with them at least weekly and sometimes daily up until the final settlement 

in June of 2016. (JA 111-112). 

Once the settlement was finalized and the case proceeded to the distribution phase, Petitioner 

sought agreement from the Respondents to a distribution which included compensation to 
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Petitioner.6 (JA 91, 105). An agreement was reached as to the percentages that each beneficiary 

would take pending an agreement or decision regarding what, if any, compensation Petitioner was 

entitled. No agreement could be reached so the matter was submitted to the Trial Court as the 

Wrongful Death statute provides. (JA 138-144 & 69-70). Petitioner's modest request for 

compensation, (JA 70),1 was based on the statutory formula in the Estate Statute as a guide. All of 

the Respondents objected and asserted Petitioner was entitled to $0. (JA 71-89). 

Ultimately, the Trial Court entered its January 25,2017 Final Order denying Petitioner her 

requested compensation on all grounds as a matter of law. (JA 7-11). Petitioner timely filed her 

Motion to Alter or Amend the January 25,2017 Order on February 8, 2017. (JA 149-157). That 

Motion requested that the Court consider Petitioner's theories for compensation, conduct an 

evidentiary hearing unless her assertions were taken as true, and to make findings of fact and 

conclusions of law on the issues for an appeal of any adverse decision. (JA 149-157). Respondents 

then filed ajoint response (JA 158-164) and the Trial Court did not conduct an evidentiary hearing 

and entered its Order denying the Motion to Alter or Amend on April 7,2017, which did not address 

Petitioner's arguments or the undisputed facts she had presented. (JA 12-14). This appeal followed. 

Standard of Review: 

The standard of review on appeal involving "a question oflaw or involving the interpretation 

of a statute" this Court reviews the Trial Court's decision under a de novo standard of review. Syl. 

Pt. 2, Williams v. Tucker, 801 S.E.2d 273 (W.Va. 2017). 

6 Petitioner had to make such a request as she was not in the statutorily listed beneficiaries based on familial 
relationship or financial dependency. However, as she argued below and herein. she should have been found to be an 
equitable beneficiary under the final class in the Wrongful Death Statute. 

7 The monetary aspects of the settlement were Ordered sealed by the Trial Court. (J.A. 46,66). 
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Summary of Argument: 

The Trial Court erred as by finding as a matter of law that Petitioner was entitled to no 

compensation upon any of the three grounds she asserted provided to her some compensation for her 

status as a person who "would otherwise be equitably entitled to share in such distribution" under 

the Wrongful Death Statute; compensation under the Estate Administration Statute for her services 

as the Personal Representative and as Plaintiff in the wrongful death case; and upon the creation of 

a statutory trust as the personal representative is the trustee in a wrongful death case and entitled 

to reasonable compensation under the West Virginia Uniform Trust Code. 

Petitioner is equitably entitled to share in the recovery due to her relationship to the Decedent 

and the loss of her partner in co-parenting their daughter. Petitioner is also entitled to compensation 

for the work she undertook on behalf of the Estate to prosecute and favorably conclude the Wrongful 

Death action under the "otherwise ... equitably entitled to share" clause.8 This Court has stated 

that this equitable class of beneficiaries provides latitude for trial court to include a person in the 

Wrongful Death distribution, based on the circumstances of the case, where they are not members 

of the other defined classes of beneficiaries. Ellis v. Swisher, 741 S.E.2d 871,876 CW.Va. 2013). 

Petitioner contends that the circumstances of this case show that her more than fourteen (14) year 

relationship and the loss of that relationship as well as her efforts as Personal Representative fit 

within this class. Petitioner also contends that guidance from this Court is necessary to aid trial 

courts in making the determination of who falls into this class of beneficiaries. Due to our evolving 

society, many people have relationships with persons who are not included in the statute that are as, 

or more, significant than the specifically listed familial relationships. As such this Court should 

8 Alternatively. Petitioner also asserts that the Estate Statute provides compensation for prosecuting and concluding 
the civil litigation. 
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adopt a standard or test that trial courts use to determine whether a person is equitably entitled to a 

portion of a Wrongful Death recovery. 

Further, Petitioner contends that the Trial Court misinterpreted this Court's precedent which 

has held that Wrongful Death proceeds are not estate assets, but are distributed in accordance with 

the Wrongful Death Statute. It read this precedent to foreclose compensating a personal 

representative under the Estate Statute for the work done in administering the Wrongful Death cause 

ofaction on behalf of the beneficiaries. These cases only decided how the funds are to be distributed 

and that creditors to the estate could not reach them, but they did not decide the issue of 

compensating a personal representati ve. Indeed, as far back as 1909, this Court stated that a personal 

representative is not only entitled to be reimbursed for costs and expenses in prosecuting the 

Wrongful Death action but was also entitled to commissions, like other instances of administration. 

Thompson & Lively v. Mann, 64 S.E. 920, 922 (W.Va. 1909). The Trial Court did not take this 

precedent into account and erred in denying Petitioner compensation for her services. 

Finally, Petitioner contends that the Wrongful Death Statute creates a statutory trust. This 

Court has previously recognized statutory trusts. Dadisman v. Moore, 384 S.E.2d 816, 821 (W.Va. 

1988). Further, the Wrongful Death Statute has all of the hallmarks of a trust: the personal 

representative is vested with legal title to the Wrongful Death cause of action, the beneficiaries have 

equitable title to the proceeds of the action, and the personal representative is in a fiduciary 

relationship with the beneficiaries where he or she must administer the cause of action for their 

benefit. As the statute creates the trust, the West Virginia Uniform Trust Code would set the 

compensation to a reasonable amount, as the Wrongful Death Statute is silent on compensation to 

the personal representative. 

8 




Statement Regarding Oral Argument and Decision: 

Petitioner requests Rule 20 oral argument because of the unsettled issues of law that must 

be determined in this case: who is "otherwise ... equitably entitled to share in such distribution,,9 

under the Wrongful Death Statute, whether a Personal Representative may be compensated under 

the Estate Statute for his or her work in bringing about the Wrongful Death fund, and whether the 

Wrongful Death Statute creates a statutory trust. Twenty (20) minutes of oral argument is requested 

by the Petitioner to present the issues and due to the number of Respondents, twenty (20) minutes 

of argument divided among them is the minimum for effective argument of this appeal which 

involves undecided issues of law. 

Argument: 

I. 	 The Trial Court Erred in Finding as a Matter of Law, Without a Hearing, that 
Petitioner Was Not Entitled to Compensation as an "otherwise ... equitably entitled 
[person] to share in such distribution" Under the Wrongful Death Statute § 55-7-6 
(1992). 

The Wrongful Death Statute, W.Va. Code § 55-7 -6(b), lists three classes of beneficiaries to 

a Wrongful Death action: (1) those with specific familial relationships to the decedent, "the surviving 

spouse and children, including adopted children and stepchildren, brothers, sisters, parents," (2) "any 

persons who were financially dependent upon the decedent at the time of his or her death," and (3) 

persons who "would otherwise be equitably entitled to share in such distribution[.]"10 W.Va. Code 

§ 55-7-6(b) (1992). The first two categories are relatively simple for a trial court to determine as they 

are based on defined relationships and financial status, both of which are readily provable. However 

9 W.Va. Code § 55-7-6(b) (1992). 

10 For ease of reference, one that qualifies under this third category will be hereinafter referred to as an "Equitable 
Beneficiary" and the clause will be referred to as the "Equitable Beneficiary Clause." 
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the third category is based on equity and does not lend itself to such an easy determination. This 

Court has stated that the Equitable Beneficiary Clause was included by the Legislature "to provide 

the courts of this state with the necessary latitude to consider whether the circumstances of a given 

case suggest that an individual, who is otherwise excluded by the statutorily-specified list of 

beneficiaries, should still be entitled to recover wrongful death damages." Ellis v. Swisher, 741 

S.E.2d 871, 876 (W.Va. 2013). However, beyond this statement, there has been no guidance to trial 

courts on how to determine how to apply the Equitable Beneficiary Clause. 

In finding that the Wrongful Death Statute did not provide a basis to award Petitioner any 

of the settlement, the Trial Court found as a matter of law that Petitioner was not an Equitable 

Beneficiary. (JA 7-11). This was clearly in error as Petitioner produced ample evidence for the Trial 

Court to review Petitioner's relationship to the Decedent and the loss that resulted from his death 

as well as the Estate and determine that equitably she should be a beneficiary. (JA 90-114). If the 

facts that Petitioner put forth were not sufficient to make the determination, the Trial Court should 

have held a hearing to take additional evidence so that it could make the determination under the 

Equitable Beneficiary Clause instead of disposing of the claim as a matter of law. 

As much as the Trial Court's single paragraph of analysis on the Wrongful Death Statute can 

show, the Trial Court appears to have found significant that (1) the Personal Representative is a 

nominal party for the purposes of pursuing the action on behalf of the Beneficiaries, (2) the Wrongful 

Death Statute is silent on whether the Personal Representative may recover in the action, and (3) that 

no case from this Court had held that a "personal representative is entitled to compensation in a 

wrongful death action for their services as the personal representative only." (JA 8). This rationale 

is based on the way this Court has treated the proceeds of a Wrongful Death action, i.e. that they do 
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not pass to the estate but directly to the statutory beneficiaries/ 1 and the absence of any guidance 

from the Legislature and this Court on the propriety of a Personal Representative sharing in the 

recovery. 

All provisions in a statute are to be given meaning, Houyoux v. Paige, 524 S.E.2d 712, 716 

(W.Va. 1999), and this Court has already stated that the Equitable Beneficiary Clause has meaning. 

Ellis, 741 S.E.2d at 876. By failing to make a determination as to whether Petitioner is an Equitable 

Beneficiary, the Trial Court failed to give meaning to the final category of beneficiaries. Even when 

Petitioner requested that the Trial Court correct this error in her Motion to Alter or Amend, (JA 150

153), the Trial Court reinvoked its prior Order and declined to analyze the issue. (JA 12-13). The 

Trial Court did not make any findings of fact, as Petitioner requested in her Motion, (JA 150), and 

did not hold a hearing as Petitioner requested if it did not take her undisputed facts as true. (JA 152). 

An analysis of the facts underlying Petitioners claim in equity was necessary to determine whether 

her particular circumstances warranted treatment as an Equitable Beneficiary under the 

circumstances of this case. Ellis, 741 S.E.2d at 876. 

The Trial Court's focus on whether a share of the proceeds can be granted "for their services 

as the personal representative only" missed the essence of the request under the Equitable 

Beneficiary Clause. (JA 8). Petitioner's request to be deemed an Equitable Beneficiary is based on 

both her relationshIp to the Decedent along with the loss she suffered when he was killed and the

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