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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

There is simply no basis in the law for the request made by the Petitioner in 

this matter. This matter involves a Wrongful Death Settlement, which is governed 

by the provisions of W. Va. Code § 55-7-6. Specifically, W. Va. Code § 55-7-6(b) 

states: 

In every such action for wrongful death, the jury, or in a case tried 
without a jury, the court, may award such damages as to it may seem 
fair and just, and, may direct in what proportions the damages shall be 
distributed to the surviving spouse and children, including adopted 
children and stepchildren, brothers, sisters, parents and any persons 
who were financially dependent upon the decedent at the time of his or 
her death or would otherwise be equitably entitled to share in such 
distribution after making provision for those expenditures, if any, 
specified in subdivision (2), subsection (c) of this section. 

As noted above, the Petitioner herself listed the possible statutory beneficiaries in 

both of the Wrongful Death Petitions filed with the Circuit Court, and neither 

petition listed Ms. McIntire as a possible statutory beneficiary. Moreover, this 

Court has spoken directly to the issue at hand. Syllabus Point 4 of McClure v. 

McClure states: 

Under W. Va. Code, 55-7-6 (1985), our wrongful death statute, the 
personal representative has a fiduciary obligation to the beneficiaries 
of the deceased because the personal representative is merely a 
nominal party and any recovery passes to the beneficiaries designated 
in the wrongful death statute and not to the decedent's estate. 

184 W. Va. 649,403 S.E.2d 1297 (1991). 
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In the instant action, the Petitioner asks this Court to create a new category 

of statutory beneficiaries under the Wrongful Death Statute based upon equity. 

Importantly, the Court in Ellis v. Swisher recognized that "since wrongful death is 

not based in common law but arises solely from legislative fiat, this Court lacks the 

authority to create a new class of beneficiaries under the Wrongful Death Act." 230 

W. Va. 646, 651 741 S.E.2d 871,876 (2013) (citing White v. Gosiene, 187 W. Va. 576, 

582, 420 S.E.2d 567, 573 (1992». 

Further, Petitioner's reliance on W. Va. Code § 44-4-12a is misplaced as that 

statute does not apply to recoveries obtained in a wrongful death proceeding. W. Va. 

Code § 44-4-12a states: 

Personal representatives, as defined in section one, article one, chapter 
forty-two of this code, shall be allowed any reasonable expenses 
incurred by the personal representative as such and commissions upon 
the amount of all the personal estate which is subject to 
administration, including the income from the personal estate, that 
is received and accounted for by them and upon the proceeds of real 
estate that is sold, as follows: ... 

(Emphasis added). It is well settled under West Virginia law that wrongful death 

proceeds are not assets of the estate that are subject to administration. Syllabus 

Point 2 of Ellis v. Swisher states as follows: 

Money recovered in an action by an administrator . . . for causing the 
death of his decedent by wrongful act, neglect, or default, does not 
constitute general assets of the estate of such decedent in the hands of 
the administrator to be administered ... Such money belongs to the 
particular persons who by law are entitled thereto. 

230 W. Va. 646, 741 S.E.2d 871 (2013) (quoting Syl. Pt. 4, in part, Thompson & 

Lively v. Mann, 65 W. Va. 648, 64 S.E. 920 (1909». The Court in Ellis explained 
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that "wrongful death recoveries have been determined to exist solely for the benefit 

of a decedent's beneficiaries." Id. at 650, 875. Although W. Va. Code § 44-4-12a 

permits Ms. McIntire to recover reasonable expenses incurred and commissions 

upon the amount of the estate that is subject to administration, this statute has no 

application to proceeds recovered from a Wrongful Death Settlement as those 

proceeds are not assets of the estate subject to administration. 

Petitioner's Hail Mary argument that the Wrongful Death Statute creates a 

"statutory trust" is simply not accurate. If the legislature intended to create a trust, 

it would have stated so in the statute. Likewise, if the legislature had intended for 

the personal representative in a Wrongful Death Proceeding to be compensated 

from the Wrongful Death settlement proceeds, then the legislature would have 

stated so in the statute. Petitioner is asking this Court to legislate from the bench 

and create an entirely new class of beneficiaries under our Wrongful Death Statute 

- recoveries for personal representatives. As the Court noted in Ellis, this Court 

lacks the authority to create a new class of beneficiaries. Further, such a 

determination is wholly inconsistent with the precedent of this Court, and the plain 

language of the statutes cited by the Petitioner in her brief. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Respondents believe that the relief sought by the Petitioner should be denied 

without oral argument. Respondents believe that oral argument is unnecessary 

because the relief sought by the Petitioner (1) has no basis in West Virginia 
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statutory law, (2) has already been addressed by this Court, and (3) has no basis in 

West Virginia common law. 

ARGUMENT 

A. 	The trial court correctly held as a matter of law that the Petitioner is 
not entitled to compensation pursuant to West Virginia's Wrongful 
Death Statute, as W. Va. Code § 55-7-6 does not provide for any of the 
proceeds from such an action to be paid as compensation to the 
Personal Representative of the Estate. 

A 	cause of action for Wrongful Death is a statutory creation governed by 

W. Va. Code § 55-7-6. With respect to the distribution of damages in such an action, 

the legislature stated as follows: 

In every such action for wrongful death, the jury, or in a case tried 
without a jury, the court, may award such damages as to it may seem 
fair and just, and, may direct in what proportions the damages shall be 
distributed to the surviving spouse and children, including adopted 
children and stepchildren, brothers, sisters, parents and any persons 
who were financially dependent upon the decedent at the time of his or 
her death or would otherwise be equitably entitled to share in such 
distribution ... 

W. Va. Code § 55-7-6(b). Importantly, at two separate times during the underlying 

action from which this dispute arises, the Petitioner, Ms. McIntire, filed Wrongful 

Death Settlement Petitions with the Circuit Court seeking approval of the 

settlements with the Defendants. In both petitions, Ms. McIntire listed for the 

Circuit Court the possible statutory beneficiaries of these Wrongful Death 

Settlement proceeds, and, in both petitions, she failed to list herself. However, after 

an agreement was reached between the statutory beneficiaries regarding the 

disbursement of the settlement funds, Ms. McIntire made a request to be paid fees 

for her role as the Personal Representative, and wanted her fees to come from the 
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Wrongful Death Settlement proceeds. When the statutory beneficiaries objected to 

her request, Ms. McIntire then asserted that she is in fact a "statutory beneficiary" 

based upon the language of W. Va. Code 55-7-6(b) regarding those who would 

"otherwise be equitably entitled to share in such distribution." 

In support of her position, the Petitioner cites Ellis v. Swisher, 230 W. Va. 

646, 741 S.E.2d 871 (2013), for the proposition that by including the "otherwise 

equitably entitled to share" language, the legislature intended to provide latitude to 

the courts of this state to consider who might be entitled to share in the wrongful 

death proceeds, but, who is ultimately excluded from the statute. However, the 

Petitioner fails to cite the next sentence in this opinion, which states: 

At the same time, however, we do not believe that the inclusion of this 
equity-based language was designed to permit the trial courts of this 
state to elude the statutory underpinnings of who is intended to benefit 
from a wrongful death action. 

Ellis v. Swisher, 230 W. Va. 646, 651, 741 S.E.2d 871, 876 (2013). In fact, a 

full reading of Ellis reveals that the issue presented therein was essentially the 

same issue the Court is asked to address in the Petitioner's brief. In Ellis, this 

Court was asked to determine whether an ex-wife, who was receiving past due child 

support payments from the decedent at the time of his death, was entitled to share 

in the wrongful death settlement proceeds. Id. at 648, 873. The ex-wife asserted 

that she was entitled to a portion of the proceeds because she was financially 

dependent on the decedent, and, because she was someone "otherwise equitably 

entitled to share." Id. This Court rejected both arguments of the ex-wife stating, 

"given this Court's longstanding recognition that a wrongful death action is for the 
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benefit of the decedent's beneficiaries rather than his creditors, we would be 

abandoning over a century of unwavering precedent if we determined that wrongful 

death damages could be obtained, under the facts of this case, to satisfy an 

outstanding child support arrearage." Id. at 651, 876. The Court echoed the 

sentiment that "the purpose of the wrongful death act is to compensate the 

beneficiaries for the loss they have suffered as a result of the decedent's death." Id. 

(citing White, 187 W. Va. at 582, 420 S.E.2d at 573). 

Here, the Petitioner asks this Court to find that she is "otherwise equitably 

entitled to share" based upon her request for fees for her role as the personal 

representative. That is, Petitioner is not seeking compensation for the loss she 

suffered, but rather, seeks to be paid for her time. Her position is akin to a creditor, 

and, as such, the ruling in Ellis should control. Moreover, to the extent Petitioner 

asserts her claim is based upon her relationship with the decedent and not merely 

her request to be paid for her time, such an argument likewise fails. 

In her brief, Petitioner asks this Court to create a new class of beneficiaries 

under the Wrongful Death Statute based upon equity. Petitioner argues that in 

each Wrongful Death action, individuals with close relationships to the decedent 

may also be entitled to share in wrongful death settlement proceeds, depending on 

the circumstances of each case. First of all, consider the conundrum such a ruling 

would create. How would attorneys ever be able to determine who was a "statutory 

beneficiary" for purposes of putting those individuals on notice of a potential 

settlement and a hearing to approve the same? Would a decedent's seventh cousin 
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with whom he went fishing twice a year now reqUIre notice of the potential 

settlement? 

The Petitioner is asking this Court to legislate from the bench. In other 

words, not only would this Court have to create a new class of beneficiaries, but 

also, it would have to create a basis/standard upon which a personal 

representative's fee in a wrongful death case would be paid. For example, is the 

personal representative paid by the hour, if so, how much per hour? Would they be 

paid based upon the amount of the wrongful death settlement, or some other 

scheme? Also, what if the personal representative is already a statutory 

beneficiary? Do they get paid twice - once as a statutory beneficiary, and a second 

time as a personal representative? 

Importantly, the Court in Ellis recognized that "since wrongful death is not 

based in common law but arises solely from legislative fiat, this Court lacks the 

authority to create a new class of beneficiaries under the Wrongful Death Act." Id. 

at 651, 876, (citing White, 187 W. Va. at 582, 420 S.E.2d at 573). Moreover, in 

White, this Court noted "it is obvious by the number of changes made to the 

wrongful death statute in recent years that this is a matter of some interest to the 

legislature." Id. at 583, 574. If the legislature wishes to broaden the class of 

beneficiaries who should take in a wrongful death proceeding, the legislature is the 

proper entity to do so. 

B. 	The trial court correctly held as a matter of law that the statutory 
fee permitted for estate administrators in W. Va. Code § 44-4-12a does 
not apply to proceeds recovered in a wrongful death proceeding as 
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said wrongful death proceeds are for the sole benefit of the statutory 
beneficiaries, and are not subject to administration. 

Petitioner claims that this Court has never held that a personal 

representative cannot be compensated for administering a Wrongful Death cause of 

action. But more importantly, neither the legislature nor this Court has held that a 

personal representative CAN be compensated from Wrongful Death Proceeds for 

their role in a Wrongful Death proceeding. Petitioner's initial request to the 

beneficiaries for fees for her role as the personal representative of Mr. Koon's estate 

were based upon W. Va. Code § 44-4-12a. W. Va. Code § 44-4-12a states in 

pertinent part: 

(a) Personal representatives, as defined in section one, article one, 
chapter forty-two of this code, shall be allowed any reasonable 
expenses incurred by the personal representative as such and 
commissions upon the amount of all the personal estate which 
is subject to administration . .. 

(Emphasis added). The plain language of the statute says a personal representative 

shall be allowed expenses and commissions upon the amount of the estate which is 

subject to administration. It is well settled in West Virginia that settlement 

proceeds from a Wrongful Death proceeding are not assets of the estate subject to 

administration. Syllabus Point 2 of Ellis v. Swisher states as follows: 

Money recovered in an action by an administrator . . . for causing the 
death of his decedent by wrongful act, neglect, or default, does not 
constitute general assets of the estate of such decedent in the hands of 
the administrator to be administered ... Such money belongs to the 
particular persons who by law are entitled thereto. 

230 W. Va. 646, 741 S.E.2d 871 (2013) (citing Sy!. Pt. 4, in part, Thompson & Lively 

v. Mann, 65 W. Va. 648, 64 S.E. 920 (1909». This Court has reiterated that 
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Wrongful Death Settlement proceeds belong to the beneficiaries and not to the 

estate. For example, Syllabus Point 4 ofMcClure v. McClure states: 

Under W. Va. Code, 55-7-6 (1985), our wrongful death statute, the 
personal representative has a fiduciary obligation to the beneficiaries 
of the deceased because the personal representative is merely a 
nominal party and any recovery passes to the beneficiaries designated 
in the wrongful death statute and not to the decedent's estate. 

184 W. Va. 649, 403 S.E.2d 1297 (1991). 

To be clear, the rightful beneficiaries in this matter are not claiming that Ms. 

McIntire cannot be compensated for her role as the Personal Representative of Mr. 

Koon's estate. They are claiming that her compensation cannot come from the 

Wrongful Death proceeds recovered in the underlying matter as those proceeds are 

not assets of the estate, but rather, belong solely to the beneficiaries. That is, 

W. Va. Code § 44-4-12a does permit Ms. McIntire to be compensated, from the 

assets of the estate, for her work as the personal representative. However, the 

Wrongful Death settlement proceeds obtained in the underlying matter are not 

assets of the estate, and as such, the Trial Court correctly found that Ms. McIntire 

has no statutory right to take from those settlement proceeds for compensation for 

her role as the Personal Representative. 

C. 	The trial court correctly held as a matter of law that the petitioner is 
not entitled to compensation under the West Virginia Uniform Trust 
Code as said code does not apply to Wrongful Death proceedings. 

Petitioner asks this Court to find that the Wrongful Death Statute, which 

says nothing whatsoever about trusts, actually creates a statutory trust that should 

be governed by the West Virginia Uniform Trust Code. Although Petitioner is 

12 



correct that statutory trusts can exist, they are a creation of the legislature, and, 

where intended, are specifically identified as such. That is, if the legislature 

intended for the Wrongful Death Statute to create a statutory trust, it would have 

specifically stated so within the statute; however, it did not. Nevertheless, 

Petitioner is asking this Court to impute language into a statute where none exists 

and where none was intended by the legislature - in order to create a trust which 

would then allow for compensation to her as a "trustee." 

This Court has stated "where the language of a statute is clear and without 

ambiguity the plain meaning is to be accepted without resorting to the rules of 

interpretation." SyL Pt. 2, State v. Elder, 152 W. Va. 571, 165 S.E.2d 108 (1968). 

Because there was no basis whatsoever for the Trial Court to determine that the 

Uniform Trust Code should apply to this situation, it correctly dismissed the 

Petitioner's claims for compensation as a "trustee." Accordingly, the statutory 

beneficiaries ask that this Court uphold the decision of the Trial Court and find that

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